

**Morphometric relationships and seasonal variation in size, weight, and a condition index of post-settlement stages of the Caribbean spiny lobster**

Rogelio Martínez-Calderón<sup>a,b</sup>, Enrique Lozano-Álvarez<sup>a</sup>, Patricia Briones-Fourzán<sup>a\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Unidad Académica de Sistemas Arrecifales, Instituto de Ciencias del Mar y Limnología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Puerto Morelos, México.

<sup>b</sup>Posgrado en Ciencias del Mar y Limnología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Ciudad Universitaria, Ciudad de México, México.

\*Corresponding author: Patricia Briones-Fourzán.

e-mail: briones@cmarl.unam.mx

## ABSTRACT

Spiny lobsters have a protracted pelagic, oceanic larval phase. The final larval stage metamorphoses into a non-feeding postlarva (puerulus) that actively swims towards the coast to settle in shallow habitats and does not resume feeding until after the molt into the first-stage juvenile. Therefore, the body dimensions and nutritional condition of both settled pueruli and first juveniles are likely to vary over time, potentially playing a crucial role in the recruitment to the benthic population. We compared carapace length (CL), height (CH), and width (CW); total length (TL), and body weight (W) between pueruli and first juveniles of the Caribbean spiny lobster, *Panulirus argus*, as well as morphometric relationships between both developmental stages. Except for CL, all other dimensions were larger in first juveniles, but most markedly CH and W. The slopes of the CH vs CL, CW vs CL, and W vs CL regressions differed significantly between stages, and all log-transformed relationships showed isometry in both stages, except for the CH vs CL relationship, which showed positive allometry. These results reflect a morphological change from the flatter, more streamlined body of the puerulus, to the heavier, more cylindrical body of the juvenile. We also analyzed seasonal variations in CL, W, the W/CL index (a morphometric condition index), and a modified W/CL index (i.e. after controlling for a significant effect of CL) of both stages using individuals monthly collected over 12 consecutive seasons (Autumn 2010–Summer 2013). In both stages, all three variables exhibited significant seasonal variation. For pueruli, the modified W/CL index differed from average in only two seasons, winter 2011 (higher) and summer 2013 (lower), but showed great within-season variation (larger coefficients of variation, CVs), potentially reflecting variability in nutritional condition of larvae prior to metamorphosis and in the distances swum by individual pueruli to the settlement habitats. For first juveniles, the modified W/CL index was higher than average in winter and spring 2011, and lower in autumn 2011 and winter 2012, but showed less within-season variation (smaller CVs), suggesting a combination of carry-over effects of puerulus condition and effects of local conditions (e.g. food availability and predation risk). These findings warrant further investigation into factors potentially decoupling settlement from recruitment processes.

## INTRODUCTION

Spiny lobsters (family Palinuridae) are large decapod crustaceans that constitute valuable fishing

Deleted: examined changes

Deleted: in

Deleted: in the transition from puerulus to

Deleted: in

Deleted: and compared

Deleted: .

Deleted: The slopes of the TL vs CL regressions did not differ between stages but the intercepts did. In both stages, all log-transformed relationships showed negative allometry, except for the CH vs CL relationship, which showed isometry.

Deleted: corrected

Deleted: ,

Deleted: developmental

Deleted: calendar

Deleted: For

Deleted: we found significant seasonal effects on CL, W, and W/CL

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: mean corrected

Deleted: was higher than

Deleted: e

Deleted: lower in summer 2011 and

Deleted: that make it

Deleted: mean corrected

Deleted: great between

Formatted: Font color: Black, Kern at 12 pt

resources wherever they occur (Holthuis, 1991). Palinurids have a protracted oceanic larval phase that consists of multiple flattened, leaf-like larval stages (phyllosoma) morphologically very different from the adults (Phillips et al., 2006). The final phyllosoma stage metamorphoses into a highly transparent swimming postlarva (the puerulus), morphologically similar to the adult. This metamorphosis has been considered the most dramatic morphological transformation in a single molt across crustaceans (Gurney, 1942). The puerulus is a secondary lecithotrophic (i.e., non-feeding) phase, consisting of a single stage that actively swims to the coast, where it settles in shallow habitats (Phillips et al., 2006). After settlement, the transparent postlarvae gradually become pigmented and the molt from puerulus to first-stage juvenile (hereafter “first juvenile”)

occurs within days or weeks. The first juveniles resume feeding shortly after molting.

During the post-settlement molt from puerulus to the first juvenile stage, the body of the lobster undergoes substantial changes that make it more suitable for a benthic existence. Most papers reporting on such changes have put emphasis on the development of the mouthparts and other external and internal structures (e.g., Lemmens & Knott, 1994; Nishida, Takahashi & Kittaka, 1995; Abrunhosa & Kittaka, 1997; Cox, Jeffs & Davis, 2008), but changes in morphometric dimensions and allometry have been much less explored (Grobler & Ndjaula, 2001; Groeneveld et al., 2010; Anderson et al., 2013).

The Caribbean spiny lobster, *Panulirus argus* (Latreille, 1804), occurs throughout the wider Caribbean region and is by far the most heavily fished of the 24 extant species of spiny lobsters (Phillips et al., 2013). The larval phase of *P. argus* comprises 10 phyllosoma stages (Goldstein et al., 2008) and metamorphosis occurs in oceanic waters. The puerulus swims to the coast and settles in shallow vegetated substrates (macroalgal beds, seagrass meadows, coastal mangroves), where the early benthic juveniles remain for a few months before shifting to coral reef habitats (Butler & Herrnkind, 2000). Lewis, Moore & Babis (1952) described the puerulus and first few juvenile stages of *P. argus*, and Anderson et al. (2013) examined allometric growth of defensive and reproductive structures through ontogeny in *P. argus*, but to our knowledge the relationships between weight and size dimensions and allometry in postlarvae and first juveniles of this species have not been explored.

Artificial collectors mimicking the natural settlement habitats have been devised to monitor long-term levels of puerulus settlement (Phillips & Booth, 1994). In a few spiny lobster species from temperate or cold water regions, in which reproduction and postlarval settlement are

**Deleted:** follows shortly

**Deleted:** ,

**Deleted:** After molting, t

**Deleted:** and remain in the settlement habitat for a few months

**Deleted:** the

**Deleted:** to puerulus

**Deleted:** the

**Deleted:** over the long term

118 strongly seasonal, the settlement data have shown relationships with the commercial catch after a  
 119 lag of several years, opening the possibility of developing catch predictive models (reviewed in  
 120 Phillips et al., 2013). However, this has not been the case for *P. argus*, suggesting that for  
 121 tropical species characterized by year-long reproduction and postlarval settlement, a number of  
 122 factors potentially mask or decouple the relationship between levels of settlement and abundance  
 123 of subsequent benthic phases (Hermkind & Butler, 1994; Briones-Fourzán, Candela & Lozano-  
 124 Álvarez, 2008). These factors may include quality of settlement habitat, food availability, and  
 125 predation mortality, as well as variability in nutritional condition of settling pueruli.

126 In crustaceans, the nutritional condition is the extent to which an individual has  
 127 accumulated reserves of nutrients to allow normal physiological function and growth (Moore,  
 128 Smith & Loneragan, 2000). Nutritional condition can be an indicator of past foraging success, and  
 129 ability to cope with environmental pressures, and can greatly affect population dynamics (Jakob,  
 130 Marshall & Uetz, 1996). Because pueruli do not feed, their post-settlement nutritional condition  
 131 will depend on the nutrient reserves accumulated prior to metamorphosis and the energetic cost  
 132 of swimming to the coastal settlement habitats (McWilliam & Phillips, 1997; García-Echauri &  
 133 Jeffs, in press). If pueruli settle with a very low nutritional condition, they may die before  
 134 during, or soon after molting into first juveniles, precluding their recruitment to the benthic  
 135 populations (Lemmens, 1994; Jeffs, Nichols & Bruce, 2001; Fitzgibbon, Jeffs & Battaglene,  
 136 2014). After molting, the first juveniles need to resume feeding to replenish their energy sources,  
 137 but this may depend on local availability of food and predation risk (Smith & Herrnkind, 1992;  
 138 Weiss, Lozano-Álvarez & Briones-Fourzán, 2008), which may further reduce the nutritional  
 139 condition of first juveniles, potentially precluding their molt into second-stage juveniles  
 140 (Espinosa-Magaña, Lozano-Álvarez & Briones-Fourzán, 2017). Therefore, monitoring the levels  
 141 of nutritional condition of benthic pueruli and first juveniles may provide insight into the  
 142 potential factors decoupling the relationships between the levels of settlement and the abundance  
 143 of subsequent benthic phases of *P. argus*.

144 Several studies have examined the use of nutrients (lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates)  
 145 during the transition from phyllosoma to puerulus (e.g., Jeffs, Wilmott & Wells, 1999; Limbourn  
 146 & Nichols, 2009; Espinosa-Magaña et al., 2018), or the contents of these nutrients as biochemical  
 147 indicators of nutritional condition over time in settled pueruli and first juveniles (Limbourn et al.,  
 148 2009). However, this type of biochemical analyses destroys the animals and can be expensive and

**Deleted:** e.g. *P. cygnus*: Phillips et al., 2000; *P. interruptus*: Arteaga-Rios et al., 2007; *Jasus edwardsii*, Booth & McKenzie, 2009; Linnane et al., 2014

**Deleted:** (Hermkind & Butler, 1994; Briones-Fourzán, Candela & Lozano-Álvarez, 2008)

**Deleted:** One of these factors could be the

**Deleted:** the

**Deleted:** , fighting ability,

**Deleted:** Jeffs, Chiswell & Booth,

**Deleted:** Moreover, the molt from puerulus to first-instar juveniles is also energetically costly and some individuals may lack the energy to complete this molt and die during the molt (Lemmens, 1994).

**Deleted:** factors such as

**Deleted:** m from

**Deleted:** ing

**Deleted:** Jeffs, Chiswell & Booth, 2001;

**Deleted:** in press

time-consuming, making their use impractical to monitor condition over the long term. Other biochemical nutritional indices, such as blood refractive index, can be accurate but are strongly affected by the molt cycle (Oliver & MacDiarmid, 2001; Lorenzon, Martins & Ferrero, 2011). Alternative morphometric techniques avoid injuring the animals and can be more practical to use over the long term (Jakob, Marshall & Uetz, 1996). Some studies have found significant variation in the size of benthic (settled) pueruli over time (e.g., Booth & Tarring, 1986; Yeung et al., 2001, Groeneveld et al., 2010), but size alone is not a good reflection of nutritional condition.

One of the simplest morphometric indices of condition is the “ratio index”, which has long been used to assess nutritional condition in fishes (Froese, 2006) and is calculated as body mass divided by a linear dimension of body size. The ratio index has also been used in crustaceans such as prawns and lobsters, in which this index is usually estimated as the total weight of the animal (W) divided by its carapace length (CL). CL is typically preferred over total length because, unlike the highly flexible abdomen, the rigid carapace can be measured with less error. Therefore, we herein refer to this index as the “W/CL index”. The W/CL index has been shown to reflect nutritional condition in shrimps (Araneda, Pérez & Gasca-Leyva, 2008), prawns (da Rocha et al., 2015), and spiny lobsters (Robertson, Butler & Dobbs, 2000; Oliver & MacDiarmid, 2001; Briones-Fourzán, Baeza-Martínez & Lozano-Álvarez, 2009; Lopeztegui-Castillo, Capetillo-Pinar & Betanzos-Vega, 2012). This is because unlike the blood refraction index, the W/CL index is independent of the molt cycle and may be a more direct reflection of nutritional health (Oliver & MacDiarmid, 2001).

The W/CL index is also useful for comparing the nutritional status between groups or populations (e.g. Robertson, Butler & Dobbs, 2001), although Briones-Fourzán, Baeza-Martínez & Lozano-Álvarez (2009) showed that its use for these purposes was only warranted when the size range of the groups was similar because the W/CL index increases with size. Given that pueruli and first juveniles have a small and similar size range, the W/CL index could be useful for long-term monitoring of their condition. Therefore, the aims of the present study were twofold: to compare several morphometric relationships between pueruli and first juveniles of *P. argus* and examine allometric changes during this ontogenetic transition, and to examine seasonal variations in size, weight, and the W/CL index of recently settled pueruli and first juveniles of *P. argus*. We predicted that both pueruli and first juveniles would exhibit significant variation in all three variables, the former because of the varying environmental conditions during their long

Deleted: are

Deleted: in the field

Deleted: Cruz, 1999;

Deleted: .

Deleted: abdomen, which is highly flexible, the carapace is rigid and can be measured more easily and with less error.

Deleted: to

Deleted: e

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: duration

Deleted: nutritional

Deleted: of these early benthic stages of spiny lobsters, but to our knowledge it has not yet been used for those purposes.

Deleted: main objective

larval phase and the potential variation in the distance swum by different individuals, and the latter because of carry-over effects (Marshall & Morgan, 2011) in conjunction with local effects after the post-settlement molt (e.g., predation risk, changes in food availability).

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Sampling of organisms

Settled pueruli (transparent and pigmented) and first juveniles of *P. argus* were obtained from GuSi-type postlarval collectors (Gutiérrez-Carbonell, Simonín-Díaz & Briones-Fourzán, 1992) that are used to monitor monthly postlarval settlement indices on the Caribbean coast of Mexico (eastern coast of the Yucatan peninsula) (Briones-Fourzán, Candela & Lozano-Álvarez, 2008). These collectors, in sets of six, were deployed leeward of the coral reef tract at two locations: Puerto Morelos (at 20° 50.9' N, 86° 52.1' W) and Bahía de la Ascensión (at 19° 49.8' N, 87° 27.1' W). The GuSi collectors simulate intricate marine vegetation and are colonized by very large numbers of small invertebrates (mostly less than 5 mm long), such as isopods, amphipods, shrimps, crabs, ostracods, harpacticoid copepods, small gastropods, nudibranchs, ophiuroids, and many types of worms (Mendoza-Barrera & Cabrera, 1999), thus providing abundant natural prey for the first juveniles after the post-settlement molt (Marx & Herrnkind, 1985; Lalana & Ortiz, 1991). A permit for pueruli collection was issued by Comisión Nacional de Acuacultura y Pesca (DGOPA.06695.190612.1737). We had access to all samples taken from collectors at Puerto Morelos between November 2010 and September 2013, but only to samples taken from collectors at Bahía de la Ascensión between August 2012 and September 2013. Individuals were transported in aerated seawater to the laboratory within 1 to 3 h of collection, and categorized into transparent pueruli (which are completely transparent except for the eyes), pigmented pueruli (with dark stripes of coloration in the new cuticle, visible below the old, transparent cuticle), first juveniles (Fig. 1), and older juveniles. First juveniles were distinguished from older juveniles based on morphological differences described by Lewis, Moore & Babis (1952), mainly the length of the medial flagella (inner branch) of the antennules relative to the lateral flagella (outer branch), the appearance of the grooves in the abdominal tergites, and the degree of development of the pleopods. Older juveniles were not further considered in this study.

### Morphometric relationships and allometry

Morphometric relationships allow testing the relationship between two variables and predicting

**Deleted:** was to examine seasonal variations in size, weight, and the W/CL index of recently settled pueruli and first juveniles of *P. argus*. We predicted that both pueruli and first juveniles would exhibit significant variation in all three variables, the former because of the varying environmental conditions during their long larval phase and the potential variation in the distance swum by different individuals, and the latter because of carry-over effects (Anger, 2006) in conjunction with local effects after the post-settlement molt. We further measured other body dimensions to compare several morphometric relationships of benthic pueruli and first juveniles of *P. argus* to determine the main morphological changes occurring during the transition between these stages, which to the best of our knowledge have not been examined for this species.

**Deleted:** (

**Deleted:** )

**Deleted:** are permanently

**Deleted:** centered

**Deleted:** 1

**Deleted:** 3

**Deleted:** 8

**Deleted:** centered

**Deleted:** , which are distant from each other by ~150 km

**Moved (insertion) [1]**

the value of one (Y) from the other (X), whereas allometry is useful to examine how one variable scales with another (Warton et al., 2006). To examine morphometric relationships and allometry, we used individuals collected from both locations between August 2012 and September 2013. For these individuals, we measured the following length dimensions: carapace length (CL, from between the rostral horns to the posterior edge of the cephalothorax), carapace height (CH, across the mid-point between the bases of the first pair of pereopods and the highest point in the cephalothorax), carapace width (CW, across the widest part of the cephalothorax), and total length (TL, from between the rostral horns to the posterior edge of the telson) with digital Vernier calipers ( $\pm 0.01$  mm). All length dimensions were measured under a stereoscopic microscope to reduce measurement error. We also measured total wet weight (W) of individuals with a digital scale ( $\pm 0.001$  g) after blotting excess moist.

Exploratory analyses revealed that transparent and pigmented pueruli did not differ significantly in any of the body dimensions that we measured (Student's *t*-tests,  $p > 0.05$  in all cases); therefore, we pooled their data into one category ("pueruli") for further analyses. Prior to regression analyses, we used separate general linear models (GLM) to test for potential effects of location (Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión) and developmental stage (pueruli and first juveniles) on each body dimension. As the effect of location was not significant (see Results), we pooled the data from both locations and used ordinary least-squares regression (OLR) to examine morphometric relationships (Warton et al., 2006). For each stage, CH, CW, TL, and W were regressed against CL. For each relationship, the slopes of regressions were compared between stages with Student's *t*-tests; if the slopes did not differ significantly, we compared the elevations (Zar, 1999). We then used the log-transformed data of all dimensions to test for allometry, which involves testing if the slope equals a specific value (i.e., isometry:  $b = 1$  for length-length relationships and  $b = 3$  for length-weight relationships) (Hartnoll, 1982). The appropriate method to estimate slopes for this purpose is the reduced major axis regression (RMA, also known as standardized major axis regression) (Warton et al., 2006). Slopes were then tested for departures from isometry with Student's *t*-tests.

#### Seasonal variation in CL, W, and W/CL index

To examine seasonal variation in size, weight, and the W/CL index, we used samples from Puerto Morelos only, as this location was sampled uninterruptedly for three years. Given that the monthly catch of the different stages tends to be low or even zero (Briones-Fourzán, Candela &

Deleted: l

Deleted: , which can be measured with less error than TL.

Deleted: exclusively the



Lozano-Álvarez, 2008), we pooled the data by astronomical season (spring: March 20 to June 20; summer: June 21 to September 21; autumn: September 22 to December 20; winter: December 21 to March 19) based on the day of the month when the collectors were sampled. This procedure resulted in data from 12 consecutive seasons.

We used separate GLMs to examine the potential effects of season (12 levels) and stage (2 levels, pueruli and first juveniles) on each variable (CL, W, and W/CL). However, because the W/CL index is affected by size (Briones-Fourzán, Baeza-Martínez & Lozano-Álvarez, 2009), the seasonal variation in the W/CL index was further evaluated with an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), using CL as a covariate to control for its significant effect. Least squares means and confidence intervals for seasonal W/CL were then computed for covariates at their means, yielding a modified W/CL index. For each stage and season, the coefficient of variation ( $CV = \left(\frac{SD}{mean}\right) \times 100$ ) was estimated as a measure of within-seasonal variability.

Statistical analyses were done with the software Statistica v.10 (StatSoft Inc., 2011) except for the OLS and RMA regression analyses, which were done with the software PAST v.3.20 (Hammer, Harper & Ryan, 2001). In all cases, results were considered significant if  $p < 0.05$ .

## RESULTS

### Size distribution, morphometric relationships, and allometry

Between August 2012 and September 2013, we obtained 606 individuals, 380 pueruli (278 from Puerto Morelos and 102 from Bahía de la Ascensión) and 226 first juveniles (154 from Puerto Morelos and 72 from Bahía de la Ascensión). Size ranges of pueruli and first juveniles were 5.01–6.90 mm CL and 5.31–6.98 mm CL, respectively (Fig. 2). Results from the GLMs examining the effects of location and developmental stage on body dimensions (Table 1) indicated that, except for CL, which did not differ significantly between pueruli and first juveniles, all other body dimensions were significantly affected by stage, but not by location, and the interaction term was also not significant. Therefore, the data from both locations were pooled prior to regression analyses.

In general, morphometric relationships of pueruli exhibited a greater dispersion of data around the OLS regression line (Fig. 3A-D), resulting in lower coefficients of determination than for first-stage juveniles (Table 2). In the TL vs CL relationship, the slopes of the OLS regressions

**Deleted:** For these samples, we measured CL and W in the same way as for morphometric analyses. These dimensions allowed for the estimation of the W/CL index.

**Deleted:** For the present study, we used samples obtained in Puerto Morelos between November 2010 and September 2013, and additional samples obtained in Bahía de la Ascensión between August 2012 and September 2013. Individuals were initially categorized into transparent pueruli (which are completely transparent except for the eyes), pigmented pueruli (with dark stripes of coloration in the carapace), first juveniles (Fig. 1), and older juveniles (Lewis, Moore & Babis, 1952). Older juveniles were not further considered in this study.

**Moved up [1]:** A permit for pueruli collection was issued by Comisión Nacional de Acuacultura y Pesca (DGOPA.06695.190612.1737).

**Deleted:** ¶ To examine seasonal variation in size, weight, and the W/CL index, we used exclusively the samples from Puerto Morelos, which amounted to 12 consecutive calendar seasons. For these individuals, we measured the carapace length (CL, from between the rostral horns to the posterior edge of the cephalothorax) with digital Vernier calipers ( $\pm 0.1$  mm) and the total wet weight (W) with a digital scale ( $\pm 1$  mg) after blotting excess moist. These dimensions allowed for the estimation of the W/CL index. For the morphometric relationships, we used all the samples taken between August 2012 and September 2013, from both Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión. For these individuals, in addition to CL and W, we measured carapace height (CH, across the mid-point between the bases of the first pair of pereopods and the highest point in the cephalothorax), carapace width (CW, across the widest part of the cephalothorax), and total length (TL, from between the rostral horns to the posterior edge of the telson). All length dimensions were measured under a stereoscopic microscope to reduce measurement error. ¶

**Statistical analyses** ¶ Because the main monthly settlement pulse occurs during the dark phase of the moon but the collectors are checked the day after the third quarter lunar phase, the monthly catch is typically dominated by pigmented pueruli and first juveniles, whereas transparent pueruli are scarce or alto (... [1])

**Deleted:** Exploratory analyses revealed that transparent and pigmented pueruli did not differ significantly in any of the body dimensions that we measured (Student's  $t$ -tests,  $p > 0.05$  in all cases); therefore, we pooled their data into one category ("pueruli") for further analyses.



did not differ significantly between pueruli and first juveniles, but the elevations did (Fig. 3A, Table 2). The slopes of all other regressions differed significantly between both stages (Table 2). In particular, W (Fig. 3B) and CH (Fig. 3C) increased more steeply with increasing CL in juveniles compared to pueruli. Results of RMA regressions revealed that for both stages, all relationships with log-transformed data exhibited isometry, except for the Ln CH vs Ln CL relationship in both stages and the Ln CW vs Ln CL relationship in pueruli, which showed positive allometry (Table 3).

#### Seasonal variation in CL, W, W/CL, and corrected W/L index

Between 20 and 45 pueruli per season, and between 12 and 35 first juveniles per season were obtained from samples at Puerto Morelos between autumn 2010 and summer 2013. Results of GLMs on these data showed a significant effect of both main factors (stage and season) but not of their interaction, on CL, W and W/CL (Table 4). First juveniles had higher mean values of all three variables than pueruli, with a similar trend for both developmental stages over the sampling period (Fig. 4). For both stages, all three variables were low in summer 2011 and tended to decrease between spring 2012 and summer 2013 (Fig. 4). Results of ANCOVA showed that, for each developmental stage, the effect of season on W/CL remained significant after controlling for the significant effect of CL (the covariate) (Table 5). However, the modified W/CL index of pueruli only differed significantly from the average value in two seasons: winter 2011 (higher), and summer 2013 (lower) (Fig. 5A), whereas within-season variability (seasonal CVs) ranged from 10.1% to 11.6%. For first juveniles, the modified W/CL index was more variable over time, with higher than average values in winter and spring 2011, and lower than average values in autumn 2011 and winter 2012 (Fig. 5B), whereas within-season variability ranged from 6.7% to 7.7%.

## DISCUSSION

We compared several body dimensions and morphometric relationships between pueruli and first juveniles of *Panulirus argus*, and examined seasonal variation in a morphometric condition index in both stages. When comparing data from Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión, location had no effect on any of the measured body dimensions. Stage significantly affected all dimensions with the exception of CL, which remained virtually unchanged after the post-settlement molt, as previously reported by Lewis, Moore & Babis (1952). In contrast, Abrunhosa

#### Deleted: Size distribution¶

In all, we obtained 823 individuals, 641 from Puerto Morelos (98 transparent pueruli, 311 pigmented pueruli, and 252 first juveniles) and 182 from Bahía de la Ascensión (9 transparent pueruli, 95 pigmented pueruli, and 78 first juveniles). Considering the entire sample, the size range of transparent pueruli, benthic pueruli, and first juveniles was 5.46–6.90 mm CL, 5.14–6.89 mm CL, and 5.0–7.15 mm CL, respectively. Figure 2 shows the great overlap in size range between stages. Exploratory analyses revealed that transparent and pigmented pueruli did not differ significantly in any of the body dimensions that we measured (Student's *t*-tests,  $p > 0.05$  in all cases), supporting their pooling into one category (benthic pueruli).¶

**Deleted:** The analyses of seasonal variation in CL, W, and the W/CL index encompassed 12 consecutive seasons, from November (autumn) 2010 to September (summer) 2013. During this period, we obtained 329 benthic pueruli and 252 first-stage juveniles at Puerto Morelos. Results of ANOVAs showed a significant effect of both main factors (Developmental stage and Season), but not of their interaction, on each of the three variables (Table 1). First juveniles had higher mean values of all three variables than benthic pueruli, with a similar trend for both developmental stages over the sampling period (Fig. 3). For both stages, all three variables were low in summer 2011 and also tended to decrease between spring 2012 and summer 2013 (Fig. 3). However, results of ANCOVA showed that, after controlling for the significant effect of CL (the covariate), the corrected W/CL index of benthic pueruli varied significantly with season, with higher than average values in autumn 2010 and winter of 2011, and lower than average values in summer 2011 and spring-summer 2013 (Fig. 4A). The corrected W/CL index of first juveniles also varied significantly with season after controlling for the significant effect of CL, with higher than average values in autumn 2010, and winter-spring 2011, and lower than average values in autumn 2011 and winter 2012 (Fig. 4B).¶

#### Morphometric relationships¶

Results from the factorial ANOVAs examining the effects of location and developmental stage on body dimensions (Table 2) indicated that, except for CL, which did not differ significantly between ... [2]

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** the W/CL ratio,

**Deleted:** , in benthic pueruli and first juveniles of *Panulirus argus*

**Deleted:** , collected from two locations on the Mexican Caribbean coast.

**Deleted:** In general,

**Deleted:** In contrast, developmental s

670 & Kittaka (1997) reported an increase in mean CL of 7.2% between the puerulus and first  
 671 juvenile of *P. cygnus*, and Groeneveld et al. (2010) reported an increase in mean CL of 4–16% in  
 672 *Jasus lalandii*. Although CW and TL were larger in first juveniles than in pueruli, the main  
 673 differences between the two stages were an increase in CH and in W after the post-settlement  
 674 molt. The increase in CH reflects the change from the relatively flattened body of the puerulus,  
 675 which provides a more streamlined form for this forward-swimming stage, to the more  
 676 cylindrical body of the benthic juveniles, which lose the ability to swim forward. This  
 677 ontogenetic change was previously observed by Grobler & Ndjaula (2001) and Groeneveld et al.  
 678 (2010) in *J. lalandii*. The increase in weight is greatly due to the uptake and incorporation of  
 679 minerals into the cuticle of the first juveniles, which becomes thicker and heavier (Lemmens,  
 680 1995), and also potentially to the development of internal structures (Lemmens & Knott, 1994).

681 In the morphometric analyses, all dimensions increased linearly with CL and the slopes of  
 682 all OLS regressions differed between stages with the exception of the TL vs CL regression, in  
 683 which the intercepts differed significantly. Although the relationship W vs CL is typically  
 684 described with a power function in spiny lobsters (e.g., Zetina-Moguel, Ríos-Lara & Cervera-  
 685 Cervera, 1996; Cruz et al., 2007), we used a linear function for this relationship because of the  
 686 small range in size and weight of pueruli and first juveniles. The small measured range gave rise  
 687 to wide variability in most relationships (values of  $r^2 < 0.7$ ), as was also the case for W vs CL  
 688 relationships in pueruli of *J. lalandii* (Grobler & Ndjaula, 2001; Groeneveld et al., 2010).  
 689 Because allometry was examined for each stage, we expected relationships between log-  
 690 transformed variables to be isometric. This was the case for all relationships except for Ln CH vs  
 691 Ln CL, which exhibited positive allometry in both stages, and Ln CW vs Ln CL, which exhibited  
 692 positive allometry in pueruli. These results suggest that larger pueruli emerge from  
 693 metamorphosis with a proportionally broader carapace than smaller pueruli, potentially reflecting  
 694 individual heterogeneity among phyllosomata.

695 Morphometric changes between the puerulus and the first juvenile could be considered as  
 696 subtle compared with the dramatic morphological change from phyllosoma to puerulus, but the  
 697 post-settlement molt does involve considerable structural and morphological changes (Lewis,  
 698 Moore & Babis, 1952; Lemmens & Knott, 1994; Nishida, Takahashi & Kittaka, 1995; Abrunhosa  
 699 & Kittaka, 1997; Jeffs, Nichols & Bruce, 2001) not necessarily evident in the body dimensions  
 700 that we measured. Interestingly, Ventura et al. (2015) found that the genes expressed during the

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: morphometric

Deleted: carapace height

Deleted: hydrodynamic

Deleted: after the molt

Deleted: allometric

Deleted: Stevenson, 1985;

Deleted: x

Deleted: Compared with the dramatic morphological change in the molt from phyllosoma to puerulus, the changes between the puerulus and the first juvenile could be considered as subtle, but this molt does involve considerable structural and morphological changes

716 | molt between puerulus and first juvenile in *Sagmariasus verreauxi* are the same genes expressed  
 717 | during metamorphosis in other crustaceans, whereas the more dramatic phyllosoma-puerulus  
 718 | morphological shift relies on a different, yet to be identified metamorphic mechanism.

Deleted: spiny lobsters

719 | Temporal variations in carapace length (CL) of pueruli have been previously documented  
 720 | in spiny lobsters (e.g., *J. edwardsii*: Booth & Tarring, 1986; *J. lalandii*: Grobler & Ndjaula, 2001;  
 721 | Groeneveld et al., 2010; *P. interruptus*: Guzmán del Prío et al., 1996; *P. argus*: Yeung et al.,  
 722 | 2001). In New Zealand, pueruli of *J. edwardsii* were larger in winter than during the rest of the  
 723 | seasons (Booth & Tarring, 1986), whereas in Namibia (Grobler & Ndjaula, 2001) and South  
 724 | Africa (Groeneveld et al., 2010), pueruli of *J. lalandii* were larger in late summer. In all these  
 725 | cases, the authors offered as possible explanations that phyllosomata metamorphosing in that  
 726 | particular season either found more favorable feeding conditions or had more time to feed and  
 727 | grow, or that pueruli arriving to the settlement habitats in different seasons may have originated  
 728 | from different adult populations.

Deleted: TL, W, CH, and CW increased with CL in both stages. The slopes of all regressions differed significantly between developmental stages with the exception of the TL vs CL regression, in which the intercepts differed significantly. Although the relationship W vs CL is typically described with a power function in spiny lobsters (e.g., Zetina-Moguel, Rios-Lara & Cervera-Cervera, 1996; Grobler & Ndjaula, 2001; Cruz et al., 2007), we used a linear function for this relationship because of the small range in size and weight of benthic pueruli and first juveniles. The small range in these and the rest of the variables that we measured was reflected in a relatively wide variability in some relationships (values of  $r^2 < 0.5$ ), as was also the case for W vs CL relationships in pueruli of *J. lalandii* (Grobler & Ndjaula, 2001; Groeneveld et al., 2010). ¶

729 | In the present study, the mean CL and W of pueruli of *P. argus* varied throughout the  
 730 | study period, with the lowest values in summer 2011 and in spring-summer 2013. In pueruli of *P.*  
 731 | *argus* collected between June 1997 and June 1999 in Florida, the smaller mean CL values also  
 732 | occurred during the summer (Yeung et al., 2001), a result that was ascribed to variable seawater  
 733 | temperatures and nutritional conditions during larval growth. Espinosa-Magaña et al. (2018)  
 734 | collected nektonic pueruli of *P. argus* offshore of the Mexican Caribbean coast in autumn 2012  
 735 | and spring 2013, and found that the pueruli were larger and contained more lipid reserves in  
 736 | spring than in autumn. These differences were ascribed to a greater availability of basal food  
 737 | resources (phytoplankton) across the western Caribbean between October and March than during  
 738 | April to September, as reported by Melo-González et al. (2000), and/or to the higher water  
 739 | temperatures during the summer, which may reduce the metabolic efficiency and the increase in  
 740 | size at molt of late-stage phyllosomata (e.g., Matsuda & Yamakawa, 1997), potentially resulting  
 741 | in smaller pueruli during the summer months. Indeed, in laboratory experiments, Fitzgibbon &  
 742 | Battaglene (2012) found a downward shift in the optimum temperature for late-stage  
 743 | phyllosomata compared to early- and mid-stage phyllosomata of *S. verreauxi*. This shift involves  
 744 | changes in feeding and energy metabolism, resulting in larger pueruli at lower temperatures.

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: Cruz, 1999;

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: in press

745 | Limbourn et al. (2009) found a significant spatial and temporal variation in total lipid  
 746 | content and fatty acid composition of pueruli and first juveniles of *P. cygnus* in western

Deleted: agmariasus

Deleted: benthic

777 Australia, but to the best of our knowledge, the present study is the first ~~to examine~~ temporal  
 778 variability in a morphometric condition factor for pueruli and first juveniles of any spiny lobster  
 779 species. Robertson, Butler & Dobbs (2000) experimentally demonstrated that the W/CL index  
 780 reflected the nutritional condition of early benthic juveniles of *P. argus*, which is why we chose  
 781 this index. However, as the ~~W/CL~~ index increases with size (Briones-Fourzán, Baeza-Martínez &  
 782 Lozano-Álvarez, 2009), we ~~modified this~~ index by controlling for the significant effect of size.  
 783 The ~~modified~~ W/CL index of pueruli was higher than average in winter 2011 and lower than  
 784 average in summer 2013, yet compared with values for first juveniles, values for pueruli changed  
 785 relatively less between seasons but exhibited greater within-season variability. This result would  
 786 be consistent with variations in nutritional condition of late stage phyllosomata prior to  
 787 metamorphosis in oceanic waters and in the distances potentially swum by individual pueruli to  
 788 the settlement habitats (Espinosa-Magaña et al., 2018). Genetic variability could also account for  
 789 some of this variation, as the northern portion of the Mexican Caribbean has been identified as a  
 790 sink area potentially receiving postlarvae of *P. argus* from multiple Caribbean locations  
 791 (Briones-Fourzán, Candela & Lozano-Álvarez, 2008; Kough, Paris & Buter, 2013). Another  
 792 factor possibly involved in the variability in the W/CL index of benthic pueruli is the seasonal  
 793 variation in the strength of the Yucatan current, ~~which runs very close to the eastern coast of the~~  
 794 ~~Yucatan peninsula. This current is~~ one of the swiftest western boundary currents in the world, but  
 795 exhibits greater velocities in spring-summer than in autumn-winter (Cetina et al., 2006; Carrillo  
 796 et al., 2015). As the nektonic pueruli would need to cross this current in order to arrive to our  
 797 sampling locations, this may result in a greater expense of energy resources when the current is  
 798 stronger (Espinosa-Magaña et al., 2018).

799 In contrast with pueruli, the ~~modified~~ W/CL index of first juveniles exhibited more  
 800 between- ~~and less~~ within-season variability. Because first juveniles need to resume feeding after  
 801 the post-settlement molt to restore energy reserves, these results suggest that their nutritional  
 802 condition depends to some extent on variation of local conditions of the settlement habitat, such  
 803 as food availability and predation ~~mortality~~. ~~In particular, although small juveniles invest more~~  
 804 ~~in defensive structures, including disruptive coloration, than larger conspecifics (Anderson et al.,~~  
 805 ~~2013), the risk of predation is ever present and may reduce foraging activity of small juveniles~~  
 806 ~~(Smith & Herrnkind, 1992; Weiss, Lozano-Álvarez & Briones-Fourzán, 2008) even if food is~~  
 807 ~~readily available, as it is in pueruli collectors. Yet, first juveniles of *P. argus* can starve for up to~~

Deleted: ing

Deleted: is

Deleted: estimated a "corrected"

Deleted: W/CL

Deleted: via ANCOVA

Deleted: corrected

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: 2011 and summer

Deleted: that make it

Deleted: in press

Deleted: ; Briones-Fourzán, unpubl. data

Deleted: Butler et al., 2011;

Deleted: corrected

Deleted: which is

Deleted: in press

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: mean corrected

Deleted: was lower in autumn-winter 2011 but

Deleted: than

Deleted: risk

Deleted: ,

Deleted: inhibit

Deleted: which may inhibit foraging activity of small juveniles (Smith & Herrnkind, 1992; Weiss, Lozano-Álvarez & Briones-Fourzán, 2008). However, there might be a meaningful carry-over effect of the previous condition after the post-settlement molt, as first juveniles can starve during a median period of 9 to 12 days, depending on the season, and still be able to molt if they can resume feeding after this period

12 days and still be able to molt if they can resume feeding after this period (Espinosa-Magaña, Lozano-Álvarez & Briones-Fourzán, 2017). In addition to the potential effect of local conditions, there might be a meaningful carry-over effect of the previous condition after the post-settlement molt. This is an important issue to consider because conspecific individuals can differ widely in their metabolic phenotype (i.e. their rate of energy metabolism) (Burton et al., 2011), and this phenotypic variation can be more important than variation in larval supply in regulating marine populations (Marshall & Morgan, 2011).

## CONCLUSIONS

Pueruli and first juveniles of *P. argus* had a similar range in CL, but the latter were heavier and had a greater CH than the former. As predicted, there was significant seasonal variation in CL, W, and the W/CL index (a morphometric condition factor) of both stages. However, within-season variation in the modified W/CL index was greater for pueruli than for first juveniles, potentially reflecting variability in the condition of larvae prior to metamorphosis and in the distances swum by individual pueruli to the settlement habitat, whereas between-season variation was greater for first juveniles than for pueruli, suggesting a combination of carry-over effects and variation in the effects of local factors (e.g. predation risk and food availability). Whether such differences have any impact on survival of these stages of *P. argus* remains to be determined. For example, validating the results of W/CL index of pueruli and first juveniles with biochemical analyses (lipid and protein contents) would support their continued use to monitor nutritional condition of these stages over the long term, whereas experimental studies could help determine how the condition factor of first juveniles varies in the presence/absence of predation risk at different levels of food availability. These and other investigations are necessary to unravel the complexity of linkages between factors potentially decoupling settlement from recruitment processes.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge the invaluable technical assistance provided by F Negrete-Soto and C Barradas-Ortiz throughout the study. Additional assistance in field and/or laboratory work was provided by R Muñoz de Cote-Hernández, A Espinosa-Magaña, R Candia-Zulbarán, R González-Gómez, L Cid-González, N Luviano-Aparicio, JP Huchin Mian, and IH Segura García.

**Deleted:** The potential carry-over effects of puerulus condition on fitness of early benthic juveniles and hence on their recruitment to the adult populations warrants further investigation to increase insight into the factors potentially decoupling settlement from recruitment processes.

**Deleted:** ¶

**Deleted:** Benthic transparent and pigmented pueruli of *P. argus* did not differ significantly in any of the body dimensions that we measured (CL, CH, CW, TL, W). After the molt from puerulus to first juvenile, the more marked morphological changes were a significant increase in weight and in carapace height, with a less marked (but significant) increase in total length and carapace width, and virtually no change in carapace length. These morphological changes are reflected in different slopes in the regressions of all body dimensions against CL except for the TL vs CL regression, in which the slopes did not differ but the elevations did. There was significant variation in the CL, W, and W/CL index, a morphometric index of nutritional condition, in both developmental stages. For benthic pueruli, the mean corrected W/CL index showed great within-season variation, potentially reflecting variability in nutritional condition of larvae prior to metamorphosis and in the distances swum by individual pueruli. For first juveniles, the mean corrected W/CL index showed great between-season variation, suggesting a combination of carry-over effects of puerulus condition and effects of local conditions (e.g. food availability and predation risk). ¶

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** This work was funded by Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACYT-México) (project CB-101200, granted to PB-F) and Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. RM-C received an MSc scholarship from CONACYT.¶

**Formatted:** English (U.S.)

## REFERENCES

Abrunhosa FA, Kittaka J. 1997. The morphological development of juvenile western rock lobster *Panulirus cygnus* George, 1962 (Decapoda, Palinuridae) reared in the laboratory. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 61:81–96.

Anderson JR, Spadaro AJ, Baeza JA, Behringer DC. 2013. Ontogenetic shifts in resource allocation: colour change and allometric growth of defensive and reproductive structures in the Caribbean spiny lobster *Panulirus argus*. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 108:87–98 DOI 10.1111/j.1095-8312.2012.01998.x

Araneda M, Pérez EP, Gasca-Leyva E. 2008. White shrimp *Penaeus vannamei* culture in freshwater at three densities: Condition state based on length and weight. *Aquaculture* 283:13–18. DOI 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.06.030

Booth JD, McKenzie A. 2009. Strong relationships between levels of puerulus settlement and recruited stock abundance in the red rock lobster (*Jasus edwardsii*) in New Zealand. *Fisheries Research* 95:161–168. DOI 10.1016/j.fishres.2008.08.009

Booth JD, Tarring SC. 1986. Settlement of the red rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii*, near Gisborne, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 20:291–297. DOI 10.1080/00288330.1986.9516150

Briones-Fourzán P, Candela J, Lozano-Álvarez E. 2008. Postlarval settlement of the spiny lobster *Panulirus argus* along the Caribbean coast of Mexico: patterns, influence of physical factors, and possible sources of origin. *Limnology and Oceanography* 53:970–985. DOI 10.4319/lo.2008.53.3.0970

Briones-Fourzán P, Baeza-Martínez K, Lozano-Álvarez E. 2009. Nutritional indices of juvenile Caribbean spiny lobsters in a Mexican reef lagoon: are changes over a 10-year span related to the emergence of *Panulirus argus* Virus 1 (PaV1)? *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 370:82–88. DOI 10.1016/j.jembe.2008.12.004

Burton T, Killen S, Armstrong J, Metcalfe N. 2011. What causes intraspecific variation in resting metabolic rate and what are its ecological consequences? *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 278:3465–3473 DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2011.1778

Butler MJ IV, Herrnkind WF. 2000. Puerulus and juvenile ecology. In: Phillips BF, Kittaka J (eds.) *Spiny Lobsters: Fisheries and Culture*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Oxford: Blackwell, 276–301.

**Deleted:** Anger K. 2006. Contributions of larval biology to crustacean research: a review. *Invertebrate Reproduction and Development* 49:175–205. DOI 10.1080/07924259.2006.9652207¶

**Formatted:** Spanish (Mexico)

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** Arteaga-Rios LD, Carrillo-Laguna J, Belmar-Pérez J, Guzmán del Proo SA. 2007. Post-larval settlement of California spiny lobster *Panulirus interruptus* in Bahía Tortugas, Baja California and its relationship to the commercial catch. *Fisheries Research* 88:51–55. DOI 10.1016/j.fishres.2007.07.007¶

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** Briones-Fourzán P. 1994. Variability in postlarval recruitment of the spiny lobster *Panulirus argus* (Latreille, 1804) to the Mexican Caribbean coast. *Crustaceana* 66:326–340. DOI 10.1163/156854094X00062¶

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** .



- 977 Carrillo L, Johns EM, Smith RH, Lamkin JT, Largier JL. 2015. Pathways and hydrography in the  
978 Mesoamerican Barrier Reef system. Part 1: Circulation. *Continental Shelf Research* 109:164–  
979 176. DOI 10.1016/j.csr.2015.09.014 Deleted: Butler MJ IV, Paris CB, Goldstein JS, Matsuda H, Cowen RK. 2011. Behavior constrains the dispersal of long-lived spiny lobster larvae. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 422: 223–237. DOI 10.3354/meps08878
- 980 Cetina P, Candela J, Sheinbaum J, Ochoa J, Badan A. 2006. Circulation along the Mexican  
981 Caribbean coast. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 111:C08021. DOI 10.1029/2005JC003056 Deleted: .
- 982 Cruz R, Lalana R, Perera E, Báez-Hidalgo M, Adriano R. 2007. Large-scale assessment of  
983 recruitment for the spiny lobster, *Panulirus argus*, aquaculture industry. *Crustaceana*  
984 79:1071–1096. DOI 10.1163/156854006778859623 Deleted: Cruz R. 1999. Variabilidad del reclutamiento y pronóstico de la pesquería de langosta *Panulirus argus* (Latreille, 1804) en Cuba. Tesis doctoral, Universidad de la Habana, La Habana, Cuba.
- 985 da Rocha SS, da Silva RNL, Santos JL, de Oliveira G. 2015. Length-weight relationship and  
986 condition factor of *Macrobrachium amazonicum* (Heller, 1862) (Decapoda, Palaemonidae)  
987 from a reservoir in Bahia, Brazil. *Nauplius* 23:146–158. DOI 10.1590/S0104- Deleted: .  
988 64972015002308 Deleted: .
- 989 Espinosa-Magaña A, Lozano-Álvarez E, Briones-Fourzán P. 2017. Resistance to starvation of  
990 first-stage juveniles of the Caribbean spiny lobster. *PeerJ* 5:e2852. DOI 10.7717/peerj.2852 Deleted: .
- 991 Espinosa-Magaña A, Briones-Fourzán P, Jeffs A, Lozano-Álvarez E. 2018. Energy cost of the  
992 onshore transport of postlarvae of the Caribbean spiny lobster. *Bulletin of Marine Science*  
993 94:(in press). DOI 10.5343/bms.2017.1145 Formatted: Spanish (Mexico)
- 994 Fitzgibbon QP, Battaglene SC. 2012. Effect of water temperature on the development and  
995 energetics of early, mid and late-stage phyllosoma larvae of spiny lobster *Sagmariasus*  
996 *verreauxi*. *Aquaculture* 344–349:153–160. DOI 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.03.008 Deleted: -
- 997 Fitzgibbon QP, Jeffs AG, Battaglene SC. 2014. The Achilles heel for spiny lobsters: the  
998 energetics of the non-feeding post-larval stage. *Fish and Fisheries* 15:312–326. DOI Deleted: .  
999 10.1111/faf.12018 Deleted: .
- 1000 Froese R. 2006. Cube law, condition factor and weight–length relationships: history, meta-  
1001 analysis and recommendations. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 22:241–253. DOI Deleted: .  
1002 10.1111/j.1439-0426.2006.00805.x Deleted: .
- 1003 García-Echauri LL, Jeffs A. 2018. Swimming energetics of the post-larvae of the spiny lobster  
1004 *Jasus edwardsii* in New Zealand. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 94:(in press). DOI Deleted: .  
1005 10.5343/bms.2017.1116 Deleted: .
- 1006 Goldstein JS, Matsuda H, Takenouchi T, Butler MJ. 2008. The complete development of larval  
1007 Caribbean spiny lobster *Panulirus argus* (Latreille, 1804) in culture. *Journal of Crustacean*



- 1036 | *Biology* 28:306–327. DOI 10.1163/20021975-99990376 Deleted: .
- 1037 | Grobler CAF, Ndjaula HON. 2001. Namibian *Jasus lalandii* recruitment: size, weight and growth Deleted: .
- 1038 | of pueruli and early juveniles. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 52:1277–1281. DOI Deleted: .
- 1039 | 10.1071/MF01102 Deleted: .
- 1040 | Groeneveld JC, Greengrass CL, van Zyl DL, Branch GM. 2010. Settlement patterns, size and
- 1041 | growth of puerulus and juvenile rock lobster *Jasus lalandii* at an oyster farm in Saldanha
- 1042 | Bay, South Africa. *African Journal of Marine Science* 32:501–510. DOI: Deleted: .
- 1043 | 10.2989/1814232X.2010.538141 Deleted: .
- 1044 | Gurney R. 1942. *Larvae of decapod Crustacea*. London: Ray Society.
- 1045 | Gutiérrez-Carbonell D, Simonín-Díaz J, Briones-Fourzán P. 1992. A simple collector for
- 1046 | postlarvae of the spiny lobster *Panulirus argus*. *Proceeding of the Gulf and Caribbean*
- 1047 | *Fisheries Institute* 41:516–527.
- 1048 | Guzmán-Del Próo SA, Carrillo-Laguna J, Belmar-Pérez J, de la Campa S, Villa A. 1996. The
- 1049 | puerulus settlement of red spiny lobster (*Panulirus interruptus*) in Bahía Tortugas, Baja
- 1050 | California, Mexico. *Crustaceana* 69:949–957. DOI 10.1163/156854096X00394 Deleted: .
- 1051 | [Hammer Ø, Harper DAT, Ryan PD. 2001. PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for](#)
- 1052 | [education and data analysis. \*Palaeontologia Electronica\* 4\(1\):1–9.](#)
- 1053 | Hartnoll RG. 1982. Growth. In: Abele LG, ed. *The biology of Crustacea, Vol. 2*. New York:
- 1054 | Academic Press, 11–196.
- 1055 | Herrnkind WF, Butler MJ IV. 1994. Settlement of spiny lobster, *Panulirus argus* (Latreille,
- 1056 | 1804), in Florida: pattern without predictability? *Crustaceana* 67:46–64. DOI: Deleted: .
- 1057 | 10.1163/156854094X00288 Deleted: .
- 1058 | Holthuis LB 1991. *Marine lobsters of the world: An annotated and illustrated catalogue of*
- 1059 | *species of interest to fisheries known to date*. FAO Fisheries Synopsis Vol. 13 (Num. 125).
- 1060 | Rome: FAO.
- 1061 | Jakob EM, Marshall SD, Uetz GW. 1996. Estimating fitness: a comparison of body condition
- 1062 | indices. *Oikos* 77:61–67. DOI 10.2307/3545585 Deleted: .
- 1063 | Jeffs AG, Nichols PD, Bruce MP. 2001. Lipid reserves used by pueruli of the spiny lobster *Jasus*
- 1064 | *edwardsii* in crossing the continental shelf of New Zealand. *Comparative Biochemistry and*
- 1065 | *Physiology Part A* 129:305–311. DOI 10.1016/S1095-6433(00)00348-2 Deleted: Jeffs AG, Chiswell SM, Booth
- 1066 | Jeffs AG, Wilmott ME, Wells RMG. 1999. The use of energy stores in the puerulus of the spiny Deleted: .
- JD. 2001. Distribution and condition of pueruli of the spiny lobster *Jasus edwardsii* offshore from northeast New Zealand. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 52: 1211–1216. DOI 10.1071/MF01182

- lobster *Jasus edwardsii* across the continental shelf of New Zealand. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A* 123:351–357. DOI 10.1016/S1095-6433(99)00073-2
- Kough AS, Paris CB, Butler MJ IV. 2013. Larval connectivity and the international management of fisheries. *PLoS ONE* 8:e64970. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0064970
- Lalana R, Ortiz M. 1991. Contenido estomacal de puerulos y postpuerulos de la langosta *Panulirus argus* en el Archipiélago de los Canarreos, Cuba. *Revista de Investigaciones Marinas* 12:107–116.
- Lemmens JWTJ. 1994. Biochemical evidence for absence of feeding in pueruli larvae of the western rock lobster *Panulirus cygnus* (Decapoda: Palinuridae). *Marine Biology* 118:383–391. DOI 10.1007/BF00350295
- Lemmens JWTJ. 1995. Calcium accumulation during the transition from puerulus to juvenile in the western rock lobster, *Panulirus cygnus* (Decapoda: Palinuridae). *Marine and Freshwater Research* 46:905–907. DOI 10.1071/MF9950905
- Lemmens JWTJ, Knox B. 1994. Morphological changes in external and internal feeding structures during the transition phyllosoma-puerulus-juvenile in the western rock lobster (*Panulirus cygnus*, Decapoda: Palinuridae). *Journal of Morphology* 220:271–280. DOI: 10.1002/jmor.1052200306
- Lewis JB, Moore HH, Babis W. 1952. The postlarval stages of the spiny lobster *Panulirus argus*. *Bulletin of Marine Science of the Gulf and Caribbean* 2:324–337.
- Limbourn AJ, Nichols PD. 2009. Lipid, fatty acid and protein content of late larval to early juvenile stages of the western rock lobster, *Panulirus cygnus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B* 152:292–298. DOI 10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.12.009
- Limbourn AJ, Babcock RC, Johnston DJ, Nichols PD, Knott EB. 2009. Spatial and temporal variation in lipid and fatty acid profiles of western rock lobster pueruli at first settlement: biochemical indicators of diet and nutritional status. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 60:810–823. DOI 10.1071/MF08244
- Lopeztegui-Castillo A, Capetillo-Pinar N, Betanzos-Vega A. 2012. Variaciones en la condición nutricional de langostas *Panulirus argus* (Decapoda: Palinuridae) en la región este del Golfo de Batabanó, Cuba. *Revista de Biología Tropical* 60:263–271.
- Lorenzon S, Martins M, Ferrero EA. 2011. Ecological relevance of hemolymph total protein concentration in seven unrelated crustacean species from different habitats measured

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Formatted: Spanish (Mexico)

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

**Deleted:** Linnane A, McGarvey R, Gardner C, Walker TI, Matthews J, Green B, Punt AE. 2014. Large-scale patterns in puerulus settlement and links to fishery recruitment in the southern rock lobster (*Jasus edwardsii*), across south-eastern Australia. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 71:528–536. DOI 10.1093/icesjms/fst176

Formatted: Spanish (Mexico)

- 1134 | predictively by a density-salinity refractometer. *Journal of Marine Biology* 2011:153654.  
 1135 | DOI 10.1155/2011/153654
- 1136 | [Marshall DJ, Morgan SG. 2011. Ecological and evolutionary consequences of linked life-history](#)  
 1137 | [stages in the sea. \*Current Biology\* 21:R718–R725 DOI 10.1016/j.cub.2011.08.022](#)
- 1138 | [Marx JM, Herrnkind WF. 1985. Macroalgae \(Rhodophyta: \*Laurencia\* spp.\) as habitat for young](#)  
 1139 | [juvenile spiny lobsters, \*Panulirus argus\*. \*Bulletin of Marine Science\* 36:423-431.](#)
- 1140 | Matsuda H, Yamakawa T. 1997. Effects of temperature on growth of the Japanese spiny lobster,  
 1141 | *Panulirus japonicus* phyllosomas under laboratory conditions. *Marine and Freshwater*  
 1142 | *Research* 48:791–796. DOI 10.1071/MF97148
- 1143 | McWilliam PS, Phillips BF. 1997. Metamorphosis of the final phyllosoma and secondary  
 1144 | lecithotrophy in the puerulus of *Panulirus cygnus* George: a review. *Marine and Freshwater*  
 1145 | *Research* 48:783–790. DOI 10.1071/MF97159
- 1146 | Melo-González N, Müller-Karger F, Cerdeira S, Pérez R, Victoria del Río I, Cárdenas P, Mitrani  
 1147 | I. 2000. Near-surface phytoplankton distribution in the western Intra-Americas Sea: the  
 1148 | influence of El Niño and weather events. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 105(C6):14029–  
 1149 | 14043. DOI 10.1029/2000JC900017
- 1150 | [Mendoza-Barrera ET, Cabrera MA. 1998. Caracterización de la fauna bentónica asociada a](#)  
 1151 | [colectores de postlarvas de langosta \*Panulirus argus\*. \*Proceedings of the Gulf and\*](#)  
 1152 | [Caribbean Fisheries Institute 50:128–150.](#)
- 1153 | Moore LE, Smith DM, Loneragan NR. 2000. Blood refractive index and whole body lipid  
 1154 | content as indicators of nutritional condition for penaeid prawns (Decapoda: Penaeidae).  
 1155 | *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 244:131–143. DOI 10.1016/S0022-  
 1156 | 0981(99)00127-6
- 1157 | Nishida S, Takahashi Y, Kittaka J. 1995. Structural changes in the hepatopancreas of the rock  
 1158 | lobster, *Jasus edwardsii* (Crustacea: Palinuridae), during development from the puerulus to  
 1159 | post-puerulus. *Marine Biology* 123: 837–844. DOI 10.1007/BF00349128
- 1160 | Oliver MD, MacDiarmid AB. 2001. Blood refractive index and ratio of weight to carapace length  
 1161 | as indices of nutritional condition in juvenile rock lobsters (*Jasus edwardsii*). *Marine and*  
 1162 | *Freshwater Research* 52:1395–1400. DOI 10.1071/MF01030
- 1163 | Phillips BF, Booth JD. 1994. Design, use and effectiveness of collectors for catching the puerulus  
 1164 | stage of spiny lobsters. *Reviews in Fisheries Science* 2:255–289. DOI

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

1173 10.1080/10641269409388559

1174 | Phillips BF, Booth JD, Cobb JS, Jeffs AG, McWilliam P. 2006. Larval and postlarval ecology.  
1175 In: Phillips BF (ed.) *Lobsters: biology, management, aquaculture, and fisheries*. Oxford:  
1176 Blackwell, 231–262.

1177 Phillips BF, Melville-Smith R, Kay MC, Vega-Velázquez A. 2013. *Panulirus* species. In: Phillips  
1178 BF, ed. *Lobsters: biology, management, aquaculture, and fisheries, 2nd edn*. Oxford: Wiley-  
1179 Blackwell, 289–325.

1180 Robertson DN, Butler MJ, Dobbs FC. 2000. An evaluation of lipid and morphometric-based  
1181 indices of nutritional condition for early benthic stage spiny lobsters, *Panulirus argus*.  
1182 | *Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology* 33:161–171. DOI  
1183 10.1080/10236240009387088

1184 Smith KN, Herrnkind WF. 1992. Predation on early juvenile spiny lobsters *Panulirus argus*  
1185 (Latreille): influence of size and shelter. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and*  
1186 *Ecology* 157:3–18. DOI 10.1016/0022-0981(92)90070-Q

1187 StatSoft Inc. 2011. *Statistica (data analysis software system), version 10*. [www.statsoft.com](http://www.statsoft.com)

1188 | Ventura T, Fitzgibbon QP, Battaglione SC, Elizur A. 2015. Redefining metamorphosis in spiny  
1189 lobsters: molecular analysis of the phyllosoma to puerulus transition in *Sagmariasus*  
1190 *verreauxi*. *Scientific Reports* 5:13537. DOI 10.1038/srep13537.

1191 | Weiss HM, Lozano-Álvarez E, Briones-Fourzán P. 2008. Circadian shelter occupancy patterns  
1192 and predator-prey interactions of juvenile Caribbean spiny lobsters in a reef lagoon. *Marine*  
1193 *Biology* 153:953–963. DOI 10.1007/s00227-007-0867-x

1194 Yeung C, Jones DL, Criales MM, Jackson TL, Richards WJ. 2001. Influence of coastal eddies  
1195 and counter-currents on the influx of spiny lobster, *Panulirus argus*, postlarvae into Florida  
1196 Bay. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 52:1217–1232. DOI 10.1071/MF01110

1197 Zar JH. 1999. *Biostatistical analysis, 4th edn*. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall.

1198 Zetina-Moguel CE, Ríos-Lara GV, Cervera-Cervera K. 1996. Relaciones morfométricas de la  
1199 langosta *Panulirus argus* de las costas de Yucatán, México. *Ciencia Pesquera* 12:41–45.

1200

1201

**Deleted:** Phillips BF, Cruz R, Caputi N, Brown RS. 2000. Predicting the catch of spiny lobsters. In: Phillips BF, Kittaka J, eds. *Spiny lobsters: fisheries and culture, 2nd edn*. Oxford: Blackwell, 357–375.¶

**Deleted:**

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:** Stevenson JR. 1985. Dynamics of the integument. In: Bliss DE, Mantel LH, eds. *The biology of Crustacea, vol. 9: Integument, pigments and hormonal processes*. London: Academic Press, 1–42.¶

**Deleted:** Article

**Deleted:** .

**Formatted:** Spanish (Mexico)

**Deleted:** .

**Deleted:**

**Deleted:** .

## FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Developmental stages of *Panulirus argus* considered in the present study.

From left to right: transparent puerulus, pigmented puerulus, and first-stage juvenile of the Caribbean spiny lobster *Panulirus argus*. The term “pueruli” in the text refers to transparent + pigmented pueruli. (Photo: F Negrete-Soto, with permission).

Figure 2. Size distribution of organisms.

Size (carapace length) distribution of the sample of pueruli (red columns,  $N = 380$ ), and first-stage juveniles (blue columns,  $N = 226$ ) of *Panulirus argus* collected at Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión, Mexico, between August 2012 and September 2013.

Figure 3. Morphometric relationships of pueruli and first juveniles.

Relationships between (A) total length and carapace length (CL), (B) weight and CL, (C) carapace height and CL, and (D) carapace width and CL, with ordinary least-squares regression lines, in pueruli (red dots and continuous lines,  $N = 380$ ) and first juveniles (blue dots and dashed lines,  $N = 226$ ) of *Panulirus argus* collected at Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión, Mexico, between August 2012 and September 2013.

Figure 3. Seasonal variation in size (CL), weight (W), and W/CL.

Seasonal variation in (A) size (carapace length, CL), (B) total weight (W) and (C) the W/CL ratio of pueruli (red dots and lines) and first juveniles (blue dots and lines) of *Panulirus argus* collected at Puerto Morelos, Mexico, between autumn 2010 and summer 2013. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals. Seasonal  $N$ s for benthic pueruli: 20–45; for first juveniles: 12–35.

Figure 4. Seasonal variation of modified condition factor (W/CL index).

Seasonal variation of the modified condition factor (W/CL index) after controlling for the significant effect of size (CL, covariate) in (A) pueruli and (B) first juveniles of *Panulirus argus* collected at Puerto Morelos, Mexico, between autumn 2010 and summer 2013. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals (CI). In each panel, the overall mean modified W/CL index and its 95% CI are denoted by the black continuous and dashed lines, respectively. Seasonal  $N$ s for pueruli: 20–45; for first juveniles: 12–35.

Deleted: (transparent)

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: entire

Deleted: transparent

Deleted: white

Deleted: 107

Deleted: , pigmented pueruli (red columns,  $N = 406$ ),

Deleted: 310

Deleted: .

Moved (insertion) [2]

Deleted: 5

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: 226

Deleted: 380

Deleted: .

Deleted: of

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: 12

Deleted: 3

Deleted: 0

Deleted: 4

Deleted: corrected

Formatted: Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Deleted: corrected

Deleted: morphometric

Deleted: nt

Deleted: benthic

Deleted: (controlling for CL)

Moved up [2]: Figure 5. Morphometric relationships of benthic pueruli and first juveniles. Relationships between (A) total length and carapace length (CL), (B) weight and CL, (C) carapace height and CL, and (D) carapace width and CL, with regression lines, in benthic pueruli (red dots and continuous lines,  $N = 226$ ) and first juveniles (blue dots and dashed lines,  $N = 380$ ) of *Panulirus argus* collected at Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión, Mexico.

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

To examine seasonal variation in size, weight, and the W/CL index, we used exclusively the samples from Puerto Morelos, which amounted to 12 consecutive calendar seasons. For these individuals, we measured the carapace length (CL, from between the rostral horns to the posterior edge of the cephalothorax) with digital Vernier calipers ( $\pm 0.1$  mm) and the total wet weight (W) with a digital scale ( $\pm 1$  mg) after blotting excess moist. These dimensions allowed for the estimation of the W/CL index. For the morphometric relationships, we used all the samples taken between August 2012 and September 2013, from both Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión. For these individuals, in addition to CL and W, we measured carapace height (CH, across the mid-point between the bases of the first pair of pereopods and the highest point in the cephalothorax), carapace width (CW, across the widest part of the cephalothorax), and total length (TL, from between the rostral horns to the posterior edge of the telson). All length dimensions were measured under a stereoscopic microscope to reduce measurement error.

### **Statistical analyses**

Because the main monthly settlement pulse occurs during the dark phase of the moon but the collectors are checked the day after the third quarter lunar phase, the monthly catch is typically dominated by pigmented pueruli and first juveniles, whereas transparent pueruli are scarce or altogether absent (Briones-Fourzán, 1994). However, as exploratory analyses revealed no significant differences in body dimensions between transparent and pigmented pueruli (see Results), the data from all pueruli were pooled as “benthic pueruli” for further comparisons.

**Seasonal variation in CL, W and the W/CL index.** Because the monthly catch from collectors tends to be rather low (e.g., some months the catch can be zero, Briones-Fourzán, Candela & Lozano-Álvarez, 2008), we pooled the monthly data for the entire sampling period from Puerto Morelos by calendar season to examine seasonal variation in CL, W, and the WL index for benthic pueruli and first juveniles. These data were subjected to factorial analyses of variance (ANOVAs) with two (fixed) categorical factors: season (12 levels, from autumn 2010 to summer 2013) and developmental stage (2 levels, benthic pueruli and first juveniles). However, because the W/CL index is affected by size (Briones-Fourzán, Baeza-Martínez & Lozano-Álvarez, 2009), the seasonal variation in the W/CL index was further evaluated with an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) using CL as a covariant, to control for its significant effect. This variable is hereafter referred as “corrected

W/CL index” In all cases, results were considered significant if  $p < 0.05$ .

**Morphometric relationships.** Regression analyses were used to examine morphometric relationships with data obtained from Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión between August 2012 and September 2013. First, we tested for a potential effect of location (with two levels, Puerto Morelos and Bahía de la Ascensión) and developmental stage (with two levels, benthic pueruli and first-stage juveniles) on each variable (CL, CH, CW, TL, and W) with separate factorial analyses of variance (ANOVA). As the effect of location was not significant (see Results), the data from both locations were pooled. Then, for each developmental stage, the variables CH, CW, TL, and W were regressed against CL, as this variable can be measured with less error than TL. For each relationship, the slopes of regressions were compared between developmental stages with Student’s  $t$ -tests; if the slopes did not differ significantly, we then compared the elevations (Zar, 1999). Finally, using the log-transformed data of all dimensions, we also tested departures from isometry ( $b = 1$  for log-transformed length-length relationships, and  $b = 3$  for length-weight relationships) (Hartnoll, 1982), also with  $t$ -tests (Zar, 1999).

The analyses of seasonal variation in CL, W, and the W/CL index encompassed 12 consecutive seasons, from November (autumn) 2010 to September (summer) 2013. During this period, we obtained 329 benthic pueruli and 252 first-stage juveniles at Puerto Morelos. Results of ANOVAs showed a significant effect of both main factors (Developmental stage and Season), but not of their interaction, on each of the three variables (Table 1). First juveniles had higher mean values of all three variables than benthic pueruli, with a similar trend for both developmental stages over the sampling period (Fig. 3). For both stages, all three variables were low in summer 2011 and also tended to decrease between spring 2012 and summer 2013 (Fig. 3). However, results of ANCOVA showed that, after controlling for the significant effect of CL (the covariant), the corrected W/CL index of benthic pueruli varied significantly with season, with higher than average values in autumn 2010 and winter of 2011, and lower than average values in summer 2011 and spring-summer 2013 (Fig. 4A). The corrected W/CL index of first juveniles also varied significantly with season after controlling for the significant effect of CL, with higher than average values in autumn 2010, and winter-spring 2011, and lower than average values in autumn 2011 and winter 2012 (Fig. 4B).

### **Morphometric relationships**

Results from the factorial ANOVAs examining the effects of location and



developmental stage on body dimensions (Table 2) indicated that, except for CL, which did not differ significantly between benthic pueruli and first juveniles, all other body dimensions were significantly affected by developmental stage, but not by location, and the interaction term was also not significant. Therefore, the data from both locations were pooled prior to regression analyses.

In general, compared with first juveniles, morphometric relationships of benthic pueruli exhibited a greater dispersion of data around the regression line, resulting in lower coefficients of determination than for first-stage juveniles (Fig. 5). In the TL vs CL relationship, the slopes of the regressions did not differ between benthic pueruli and first juveniles, but the elevations did (Fig. 5A, Table 3). The slopes of all other regressions differed significantly between both developmental stages (Table 3). The most evident morphometric changes between pueruli and first juveniles were an increase in weight (Fig. 5B) and carapace height (Fig. 5C) relative to CL in juveniles, with weight increasing more steeply with increasing CL in juveniles. In contrast, changes in total length (Fig. 5A) and carapace width (Fig. 5D) relative to CL, although significant as well, were less marked. For both developmental stages, all regressions with log-transformed length dimensions exhibited negative allometry (i.e., slope was significantly lower than 1), except for the relationship carapace height vs CL, which exhibited isometry (Table 3). The slopes of the W vs CL relationships also differed significantly from 3 in both stages, showing negative allometry (Table 3).